














































































































barley stubble and oases of bright green which cattle are seen cropping.
Soon the team is pulled up at the veranda of a very neat building on
whose roof appears the name "Burbank' and about the first thing heard
is the ringing of a telephone inside which has Los Angeles as its other
terminus.'" While some were to consider this a patronizing description,
the newspaper was accurately picturing the change to 'city" life.

Meanwhile, Dundee, at the crossing of the railroad, persisted
from its start in 1883. Indianapolis was a subdivision town, laid out
with Burbank in 1887 at the Brand pumping plant at Grandview Avenue,
Burbank.,

DAVID, AMOS, AND LUTHER

As the advertising of the Providencia land company showed, as
early as March 30, 1887, the town had already been 'mamed Burbank."
Monroe, the later historian, said that it was ''mamed Burbank in honor
of the original owner.' Yet even so good an historian as George Wharton
James wrote that the town was named after Luther Burbank, the famous
agriculturist and horticulturist. Another claim was advanced for
Amos Leslie Burbank. Each of the three shared the same surname of
Burbank. Amos and David were on the scene, as will be shown. Luther
never was.

"Luther Burbank had nothing to do with city founding' ran a
headline in a newspaper collage years later. 'No, ma'am, Luther Burbank
DIDN'T found the city of Burbank. He didn't even grow a potato there.
Credit goes to a New Hampshire-born dentist, Dr, David Burbank, who
made more money in San Francisco real estate and sheep raising than he
did in pulling teeth. Burbank country was known as sheep country.
Luther Burbank grew his potatoes at Santa Rosa, California."

Luther Burbank (1849-1925) came to California's Santa Rosa from
his native Massachusetts in 1875. He carried on experimental work on
all kinds of plants and produced the 'famous Burbank' potato. For the
remaining half century of his life he worked in the rich soils of
Santa Rosa to produce many ''mew creations.'" He lies buried under a
tall deodar, a few steps from his greenhouse. Luther did not come to
Burbank, California, and neither he nor anyone else supplied his name
to it, Some were to hold that David and Luther were cousins. As if to
add to the confusion Burbank High School in Burbank is named after
Luther, not David.

Amos Leslie Burbank (1851-1920) was born in New York State on
April 26, 1851, and is called by historian Rockwell D, Hunt "founder of
towns.'" In 1886 Amos sold his property in Michigan and came to San Luis
Obispo, California, where he stayed a year, that is, to 1887. As Hunt
writes, "After a year he moved to Los Angeles, and from that time was
closely identified with real estate operations both individually and in
association with famous capitalists and promoters., His first big deal
was the establishment of the Town of Burbank and the sale and other
features of the promotions and developments in the towns of East San
Gabriel, Morgan Hill, San Martine and Rucker in the Santa Clara Valley,
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On an area already known for more than two decades as the
Burbank Ranch and nov being reorganized by a major land company on
which Dr. David Burbank was a leading stockholder and director, it does
not appear possible that someone would have thought that a 'new' name
of Burbank, from Amos Leslie Burbank, should be chosen. It already had
that name. Amos was quite unknown on any terms, this being his first
major project, as Hunt wrote, that would in any way merit his selection
as namegiver to the new town. That the last name is a coincidence does
not mean that it was his which was used. W. W. Robinson holds that the
town got its name from Dr. David Burbank.

George Burbank Sedgley wrote in the Genealogy of the Burbank
Family: "They named this town 'Burbank' in honor of Dr. David Burbank.
(Very likely a member of this company of promoters was Amos L. Burbank,
for it is known that he promoted 'Burbank' and several other towns and
had them incorporated. It is probable that the town was named for
Amos L. Burbank as well as for Dr. David Burbank.)'" Sedgley, a member
of the Burbank family, is in error on several counts: first, Amos was
not a member of the Providencia promoters; second, the town was not
named in part for him. There was no reason for this whatever as the
name was already present for two decades.

To aid in establishing the facts the fuller obituary materials
on both David and Amos are given later at their points of death.

The boom of 1887 was really the second wave of subdivision of
the Valley into less than ranch-size areas. The first had begun in
1874 at San Fernando in a farm community stage, beyond which the boom
of 1887 did not get as population in-migration slowed. But there was
no doubt that the new farm communities did break from the old Mission
way and Mexican ranchos and outsized wheat ranches and sheep ranches at
Burbank and San Fernando, although not yet in other Valley ranch hold-
ings. David W. Alexander, onetime owner of Rancho Providencia and
other lands near Burbank, died at 75 in 1887. Harry Chandler came to
the area in 1888.
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CHAPTER 5

BUST AND DEPRESSION

The greatest boom in Burbank's history was also in less than
two years the greatest bust, exceeded perhaps only by the depression
1930's. But even in the desolation of collapse Burbank was of immense
interest as a novel ecological growth.

Thus, in 1888 the Los Angeles Express, one year after Burbank
was established, commented: 'When it is said that six months ago there
was scarce the thought of a town building here, the visitor views with
wonder what has been accomplished. The eye gathers in its sweep some
thirty substantial dwellings, a fine store building with a stock of
goods, a passenger station on the Southern Pacific line, the $30,000
hotel, a furniture factory, a horse-carline nearly completed in the
foothills a mile and a half away and two immense reservoirs about a
mile apart."

Meanwhile Dr. David Burbank announced on April 28, 1888, his
plan to build the Burbank Theater, as an opera house, beside his home
on South Main Street in Los Angeles, for $150,000.

THE BUBBLE BURSTS

Dumke wrote of Burbank in 1888: '"The boom continued through
the early months of 1888, and excursions were still arriving in March.
Promoters boasted that there were 'pleasure excursions' and that
Burbank sales methods differed from those of surrounding communities.'
Or as one article observed: 'We have never had a (real) excursion,
never employed a brass band or had a street parade; have offered no
lottery schemes to tempt purchasers to invest, but without any show or
parade we have in a few months sold over 900 Town Lots and 2000 acres
of land adjoining, aggregating nearly $600,000. In less than ten
months a grain field has been converted into a growing prosperous town
of over 250 BONA FIDE INHABITANTS."

In April, 1888, the land speculation bubble broke. Later
Burbank officials noted: '"Development was virtually at a standstill
for two decades.'" Once the crash came in 1888 five room houses were
selling at Burbank for $400 to $500 or taken for the mortgages. Many
vacant lots went for tax costs. Charles B, Fischer recalled buying
three lots at Olive Avenue and Kenneth Road for $80 and an entire block
fronting on San Fernando Boulevard for $5,000, Three lots at the corner
of San Fernando and Olive were bought for $800. In the Burbank Manu-
facturing Company transients napped. Finally the structure burned down.
The "brick block' prepared for a bank was completed, but it took twenty
years before a bank rented a room in the building, so great was the
economic devastation. Most of the ten men who owned the Providencia
Land, Water and Development Company were ruined financially. Names of
Dr. David Burbank and other Providencia directors were scratched off
the windows of the land company.
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A FARM COMMUNITY IN COLLAPSE

By 1889 the bust of 1888 had turned into collapse of the entire
effort to create town life. The 10 to 40 acre farm was now predominant
in the Burbank area. One historian held, "the natural fertility of the
land enabled some ranchers to make a living on the farms during the
long dry spell which followed the land boom collapse of 1889. In five
of the seven dry years, less than ten inches of rain fell each season.
Water conservation was unknown in the area and there were few reservoirs
to store water for irrigation. However, the fine sand loam and the
natural underwater wells gave Burbank some of the finest vineyards in
the world. Burbank became famous for its fine wines and large wineries."

Thus, even if the town boom had now broken as population in-
migration and lack of industry combined to smash the bubble, the dry
spell to 1896 could have brought about collapse of what was still a
farm area. Still, Burbank was able to go into production of peaches,
alfalfa, melons and particularly cantaloupes, pumpkins, and grains
which made it a farm center.

Once the grain was harvested, it was wrapped in large burlap
bags, loaded on wagons and transported by wagon on San Fernando Road to
flour mills in Los Angeles. Land that could not support farming went
back into grazing acreage for sheep for fully twenty years. Grapes
were planted on the piedmont to foreshadow some of the future farm
system of the Valley. As jackrabbits multiplied and destroyed crops, 5
roundups of rabbits were held and thousands were shot.

Those were the times when the slope northeast of San Fernando
Boulevard and southwest of the Green Verdugo Hills was a barley field,
owned by a man named Mickels. In 1889 Omar C. and Sarah Ann (Smith)
Lane moved their family from North Dakota to Burbank and bought thirty ]
acres of property at the site of the later Grand Central Airport. 3
Their son, Orlando C., was then eight. A fine peach orchard was '
developed. In no time the property became too valuable for farming.
Young Orlando attended schools in Glendale and Burbank and took up the
machinist's trade in Burbank--a steady move many youngsters were to
make, from the farm functions of parents to city-type skills.

In 1888-1889 down to Kenneth Road the natural chaparral growth
was practically solid, Howell's work of 1888 showed that Providencia
Rancho and Scott tract had 8,000 acres, 83 blocks and 125 ten-acre
lots, which included the town-site of Burbank. Binford Brothers &
Hardy's Subdivision had forty-two lots in this area. Booth's subdivision
had forty-three lots. T. D. Buffington bought a 20=acre ranch at
Victory Boulevard and Magnolia in 1888. At the time lots were going
for as little as $75. Despite the hard times the Santa Rosa Hotel was
begun, in 1889.

F. A. Halburg, who got here in 1888, recalled that his son
Theodore, 3, wore short dresses at the time. Socials and public meetings
were held in the hall upstairs in the west half of the completed Brick
Block.
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The old District school continued to offer classes to about a
half dozen students. A one-room schoolhouse stood near Central Avenue
and Main Street., A new school was being built on the east side of
Magnolia Avenue between Second and Third Streets.

In 1888 Cassius (Cash) Edmunds purchased the lot on the north=
east corner of Sixth and Orange Grove Avenue with two small houses which
were called the Chicago twins. The family lived in one and used the
second for a store. As there was not enough room inside, Mother Edmunds
baked bread for the store outside in a large oven in a tent. Supplies
for the store were secured by driving a horse and wagon to Los Angeles
about twice a week. Deliveries were made to ranches in the vicinity of
Glendale and Lankershim twice a week. Edmunds' many trips were the
equivalent, he figured, of driving around the world several times. He
was later to serve three times on the County Republican Central Committee
and nine years as clerk of the Burbank School Board.

The Gilmore family came to Burbank in 1889 and their original
house was still used in the 1960's. Center of town included three
places of business, the first general store, the first lumber yard and
the first feed and fuel store.

Halburg was named postmaster of Burbank under the Harrison
administration and served for about six years. During that time '"the
settlement'" had a population of approximately 50, most of it scattered
on ranches. The post office was 'kept" in Halburg's little grocery
which was located below the hotel he was to build in 1895. Two other
stores were then present, one owned by Charles Goren and the other that
of Edmunds. Roads were dusty. Automobiles were only heard of. Valley
towns were vast grain fields. For his postal service Halburg received
$10 a year. Receipts of the post office ran about $110 a year.

With the boom gone so went the Burbank Times. John B. Marshall
recalled the time in 1889 when his cousin, Rudy A, Marshall, owned and
edited the Burbank Times and was a justice of the peace as well. 1In
those days Burbank ''wasn't bigger'n a wart, but its people were hopeful
of the future because of its splendid location."

A Brother Thomas from the Maclay College of Theology was active
in Burbank church work. The Burbank church was incorporated on
April 28, 1888. A. L. Burbank was a trustee. When the Presbyterian
Church, built in 1888, was blown down by a windstorm, it was rebuilt.

Where Burbank had some dusty roads in 1888, the rest of the
Valley had virtually none. But grading for a steam railroad was com-
pleted by 1888 to Burbank as terminal point for an extensive '"subdivi-
sion." A narrow-gauge dummy line to Los Angeles began but faded, as
did an extension of the Glendale Steam Motor Car line. But Mother
Edmunds recalled that the horse carline on Olive Avenue was active in
1888.

In contrast to Portsmouth, Ohio, which they had left, Mother
Edmunds said that "if heaven were as much more beautiful than Burbank
as Burbank is than Los Angeles, it certainly must be wonderful." Only
a dozen houses were scattered about town at the time, plus the old
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Brick Block, the Goren Store, and the Burbank Villa. For fire protec-
tion the town drew on a two-wheel handdrawn hose cart owned by the
Providencia company.

William Ludlow and his wife Ida May Gloria were among the first
couples to settle in the town, and their son Ray G. Ludlow was the first
baby born here. During the height of the 1889 San Fernando Valley flood,
one of the worst in history, the Ludlows were wed in Los Angeles. As
the couple returned to Burbank from the ceremony, they were forced to
swim their horses across the raging Los Angeles River. Ludlow was
employed in the furniture factory and later ran his own ranch for more
than twenty years.

THE NOT SO GAY NINETIES

While many people drifted away, nevertheless population of
Burbank Township in the 1890 census came to 2,996 and in San Fernando
Township to 1,110. When Benjamin and Lydia Askew arrived in Burbank in
1891, they said that the entire Valley had 1,800 people.

The depression now added to the collapse of the boom. So great
was the change that where in 1880 the assessed valuation of Los Angeles
County was $20,000,000 and by 1887 had reached $63,000,000, by 1890
values were back to the $20,000,000 mark. Suffering was acute in
Burbank. Many a ghost town almost littered the maps of the time and
were but whistle stops along the railroad. Chinese and other laborers
fled the area. Cahuenga Pass remained a narrow dirt road, "difficult"
to negotiate. The great flood of 1890-91 devastated the few roads.

A powerful windstorm struck Burbank on December 11, 1891, and
collapsed the Presbyterian Church. Rebuilding began at once, and the
second building was ready on February 5, 1893, But for most of the
decade of the 1890's drought was second to no other disaster in making
life difficult. The little water pumped for irrigation came in the
main in the southeasterly part of the Valley near Burbank. An earth=
quake, later, in 1899, did minor damage. Then about two miles of
23~inch water pipe were laid at Burbank.

During a flood of 1891 the Weddington family, which was to
settle at Lankershim (North Hollywood), rented a house in Burbank until
they could build their own. In 1891 an Act of Congress set aside what
became Angelus National Forest to preserve timber supply and insure
regular water flow in river and stream systems, an early ecological
master move.

In 1892 Gene Baker bought land at Burbank where Disney's studio
was to stand., Frank A, Halburg bought Mrs. Goren's grocery store on
April 28, 1892, Dr, W. S. Gibson bought four lots for $15 each in 1896
and kept them for decades, building on them in 1930 when he returned to
Burbank for his health, Ed Radcliff said of 1896 at Burbank: '"Sight
unseen, my father traded 100 acres of Nebraska farmland for three acres
at Olive Avenue and Victory Boulevard back in 1896 when he was forced
to move to California for health reasons."
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Burbank's excellent land drew farmers from the midwest.
Orville Myers came to Burbank in 1890, bought ten acres of land and
went into farming. In time he owned 78 acres and other property, only
to move into real estate and banking later. Colby and Nancy Margaret
Brown came in 1890 to farm. Their son, Paul P, Brown, was born in
Burbank on May 20, 1895, and was later to be a prominent resident.
When the Askews had their ranch in Burbank in 1891, young Fred Askew
drove a horse and wagon loaded with vegetables and watermelons to market.
He started at 3 a.m. to reach Los Angeles by 6 a.m..

When she first came here some time after 1892, Mrs. Clara
Carpenter recalled how her family owned a ten-acre prune ranch.
H. S. Sprinkle arrived in Burbank in the "big boom' of 1893 with eight
head of horses, $250 in his pockets and lots of ambition. A high-
pressure realtor tried to sell Sprinkle the block of land at San Fernando
and Olive Avenue containing the old Santa Rosa Hotel for less than
$9,000. Sprinkle bought a ranch on Alameda Avenue for about $50 an
acre and turned it into a prosperous farm., Oliver J. Stough bought
2,000 acres here in 1893 for a reputed $50,000, start of a new colossal
land combination at Burbank.

Dr. June Luttge Wilson, longtime Burbank resident and school
teacher, recalled that her family from the East came to Burbank in 1893
and bought from Dr. David Burbank land totaling 25 acres at San Fernando
Road and Alameda Avenue. The money was used by Dr. Burbank to build the
Burbank Theater in Los Angeles. Barley and truck crops were grown by
the Luttge family which had come West with all their household goods
and horses and stock, loaded into box cars. Luttge bought a house for
$900 at Seventh Street and Orange Grove Avenue; the structure was still
standing a half century later. June Luttge went to Los Angeles Normal
School and returned to teach in Burbank for six years.

John J. Radcliff came to Burbank in 1894, bought 15 acres, and
farmed on what grew to 40 acres. When J. D. Radcliff, later a mayor of
Burbank, came in 1896, he farmed on 54 acres at what became Grand Central
Airport, then considered part of Burbank.

In 1896 when John Edward Swaim sat on a Minnesota train reading
a folder about Southern California and decided, "I'm going to California,"
a stranger named Hogan told him: '"When I was in California, I went to
a little place called Burbank. It was the liveliest place I ever saw,
and I picked out ten acres near a river where I'm going to live some
day. Suppose we charter a freight car together and go there?"

Less than a week later Swaim filled a freight car with furniture,
flour, produce, horses, cows and chickens and billed it to Burbank.
Host to the new arrivals was Burbank ticket agent Mr. Powell. Mr. Powell
drove the Swaims to the only vacant house in town, at Third and Angeleno,
where Mrs. Swaim and the children settled. Powell aided Swaim in placing
the livestock in a corral near the tracks on South Olive Avenue, owned
by Howard Fawkes. As soon as possible the Swaims bought ten acres and
built a home. Swaim raised the first rhubarb which Los Angeles residents
could buy in the market. With them from Minnesota the Swaims had brought
enough produce to live for a year in case they found themselves in a
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wilderness. Some barrels contained pork and sausage preserved by
frying and allowing the meat to solidify. Meat kept perfectly even
through the heat of summer. Mrs. Swaim exchanged much of it for
California fruit. In a poem Mrs. Swaim recounted how the family had
heard of Burbank.

Ed Radcliff recalled how by 1896 watermelons were 'dry farmed"
where Grand Central Airport was to go up. Melons grew in the Glenoaks
Boulevard-Alameda Avenue District. Produce was hauled to Los Angeles
by wagon and sold at the civic center for $5 a load.

By 1898 Mr. Story established Burbank's first livery stable.
Now Burbank was emerging as an important source for top quality
watermelons and cantaloupes. Products from Burbank were found in
distant markets.

In that decade, by 1893, Henry Luttge had gone in for oil
drilling. "As oil land, it wasn't much,'" he admitted, "but for farming
and making motor trucks it couldn't be better." From farm to oil to
industry was to take all the way to 1917, a quarter of a century.

Henry was brother of George and John Luttge, later to own the chief
general store. All the family had come in 1893 by Santa Fe Railroad.
The father was the first man to drill for oil in Burbank. The first
well was dry., In time Henry became known as 'Sweet Potato' Luttge as
he specialized in this vegetable on land later to become ''automobile
row,"

In retail trade by 1890 the Cash Edmunds family moved to its
home at 228 North Orange Grove and moved the store to the Brick Block.
Frank A. Halburg bought the grocery store from Mrs. Emily Forin and her
son, Charles, on April 28, 1892.

Burbank community center moved up the hill to San Fernando
Boulevard in 1894 as Cash Edmunds built the two~story masonry store
building at the corner of Orange Grove and San Fernando. Supplies were
hauled from Los Angeles by horse and wagon and sometimes, if quantity
were sufficient, by Southern Pacific train. Saturday was a big day,
for farmers from surrounding Valley areas would come to the Edmunds
store to put in their week's supplies. Mrs. Edmunds Fairburn, daughter
of Evans, a partial invalid from Civil War wounds, would help her father
in the general store. Edmunds rented the hall upstairs to the Good
Templars Lodge, Foresters Lodge, and others. People watered their
horses before the store. Edmunds had a good well with a fine windmill
and large water tank to supply house, barn and store.

Two lots at Olive Avenue and Sixth Street sold for $35 in 1895,
all paid in silver dollars by N. D. Hoskins, father of Mrs. George
Luttge. Hoskins constructed a large home and barn there (much remodeled
but still available in the 1930's). He also built the first Christian
Church which stood for decades where the Masonic Temple later was
erected. When George H. Luttge, who came to Burbank in 1896 in his
celluloid collar and starched shirt, caught sight of Miss Hoskins
expertly sawing wood at the rear of her family's new Olive Avenue home,
he said: "Any girl who can fix a pile of wood like that is the partner
for me." With his brother John he was to buy the Edmunds store, which
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became an institution. There people could buy food, groceries, needles,
paint, bolts of calico, highly colored candy and prescriptions.

Employment of the period was spotty. W. C. Thedaker considered
himself very fortunate to get work at $1.25 a day when he and his wife
Emma came here in 1895 from Missouri. They built a home at 42 North
Verdugo which was to last for decades. Mrs. C. H. Talley recalled that
in 1897 her brother, Daniel M. Fry, had the blacksmith shop at Verdugo
Avenue and San Fernando Boulevard. The Talleys often picnicked in
Sunset Canyon, where a fresh water spring was an attraction. Charles
G. Marone began working in peach orchards at Burbank in 1898 for 15 cents
an hour. He kept at it for three years.

Seven years after arriving here from New York, Frank A, Halburg
in 1895 built a hotel at Fifth Street and Angeleno Avenue., Halburg
became the town's second Postmaster on April 28, 1892, when he bought
Mrs. Emily Goren's grocery. Burbank's third Postmaster was William P.
Rupe, who took office on March 24, 1894, The post office was moved to
the brick block building at the northeast corner of Olive Avenue and
San Fernando Boulevard. There it was to stay for some nineteen years.
Children after school would come to pick up family mail, and the post
office would be a noisy meeting place for them. Cassius Edmunds was
appointed postmaster on March 12, 1898, and held the post until April 14,
On April 14, 1898, Charles E. Patterson was appointed Postmaster. The
Gilmore family, including sisters Clara, Martha and Margaret and their
brother Sam, got to Burbank in 1899, Sam was both the first mail
carrier in Burbank and also owner of the first bicycle.

In an edition of November 6, 1896, the Burbank San Fernando
Valley News indicated that it was in its eleventh year.

SMALL TOWN LIFE

Boom or bust, depression or prosperity, people lived well at
Burbank. Henry Luttge and Miss Bell Robison wed in the house, built
in 1895, in which her family had lived for almost a year. Picnics in
the hills drew the young. By 1893 they used their bicycles to reach
Sunset Canyon and other favorite areas.

At San Fernando and Magnolia Boulevards the Edison schoolhouse
was erected in 1891, It had 70 pupils. Young Fred Askew recalled that
while he lived in 1891 on a ranch at Providencia Avenue and Victory
Boulevard, "I remember attending the old yellow grammar school on
San Fernando Boulevard. Mr. Chandler was the principal and didn't
tolerate any monkey business from anyone. Grace Buffington, Clara
Crane, the Pogue girls, the Fischers, the Gilmores and the Luttges
were all classmates.,"

Rebuilding of the Presbyterian Church, knocked down by the
windstorm of December 11, 1891, was completed by February 5, 1893.
Dr. W. S. Gibson came to Burbank in 1895 and for years was the only
physician in the town. For a time Dr, Gibson lived at Fifth Street
and Olive Avenue where the Burbank Hospital was to stand later. Then
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he sold two lots and a ten-room home for $300 and left for a Ventura
ranch; when he returned decades later, in 1930, he still owned land
here and was to build on it.

Recreation was something the young knew how to handle well in
1890's. Bicycles started to come in. Rabbit hunting was a popular
sport. Watching the railroad train puff up to the mustard~yellow
Burbank station was exciting.

In the 1890's people had difficulty walking up the hill along

Olive Avenue where narrow paths were lined with weeds taller than one's
head and vicious goats were encountered, For many years the city
fathers had entire crews out weeding.

Youngsters would recall the narrow gauge railway, running
parallel to the Southern Pacific tracks, which linked Burbank to the
'big city' of Los Angeles, Lindley and Widney, in their 1896 work on
Southern California, called Burbank "a principal village." Bill Weaver
was still running the L., T. Garnsey Livery Stables and later a horse
and buggy taxi service in between duties as deputy sheriff.

In 1896 the Southern Pacific Railroad began work on the Coast
Line which branched from the main line at Burbank and crossed west to
Canoga and then went north through the Santa Susanna Tunnel. Mexican
and American labor joined to complete the line., Railroad distance to
Los Angeles was listed as nine miles, In 1898 Thomas Story put in the
first livery stable; eventually he sold the property to Orlando C. Lane,
who later established the Ford Garage there. Years after, Reimer's
Department Store went onto the site.

Water in the 1890's was supplied at Burbank by a gravity system
of the Miradero Water Company, a private firm. It had two reservoirs,
one of two-million gallons capacity and the other double that., Water
came from a creek in Tujunga Canyon. About two miles of 23 inch pipe
were laid. In 1890 the first water was pumped up for irrigation. Earl
Dufus in that period "planted fruit which, at first, grew without irri-
gation, until the first irrigation ditch was put in. Then we had to
water everything the new way."

Paul Brown said, '"the most important thing in the entire
development of Burbank as a community was the extensive irrigation,"
Brown, born here in 1893, noted how an irrigation ditch led from the
Toluca Lake dam up to Providencia Avenue to Glenoaks Boulevard and
Grandview. The ditch watered his family's farm. In the fall the
Browns cultivated grain, in the spring, melons, and throughout the
summer, hay and fruit., Simultaneously, pumping plants encouraged
animal husbandry throughout the Valley.

Burbank was once so moist that irrigation was unnecessary in
the old days, when Abel Dufus arrived from Nebraska in 1896, They were
met by the owner of the land, Fyrus McFarlane, in a one=horse spring
wagon. They had made a "sight unseen' trade, which proved a happy one.
At the time the Bly ranch in the Valley was almost swampy. When a
Purtle ditch was installed the length of the Valley by Los Angeles
interests, this lowered the water level, Irrigation became necessary.,
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Olive Avenue, 1889, looking southwest toward
the center of town

s

Olive Avenue, looking northeast toward
the Verdugos.



Burbank’s first factory, established 1887,
at the Verdugo grade crossing.
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Luttge Bros. grocery wagon, at end of a round
trip to Los Angeles for groceries



Edison School, bwilt in 1891, at corner of San
Fernando Road and Magnola Avenue

Moreland Truck Company plant, Alameda Avenue

and San Fernando Road. Established 1917



The Valley tips down at this point and the Los Angeles River is near
the surface. But in the period 1898-1899 precipitation was but 5.59
inches, the lowest on record to that time.

DR. DAVID BURBANK PASSES

Dr. David Burbank opened his Burbank Theater on Monday, Novem-
ber 27, 1893, in Los Angeles. The Burbank, which could seat 2,000
people, was listed as the most complete and elegant family theater in
the west., '"Shadows of a Great City'" was the first play presented, not
a poor harbinger of events to come in relation to Burbank's name. Soon
the Burbank became the leading theater and opera house in Los Angeles.
Burbank also built the Tally-Ho Stables.

The day Dr. David Burbank died at 73, on January 21, 1895, his
Burbank Theater was showing Jeffreys Lewis in '"East Lynne.,'" Burbank,
a resident of this area for just under thirty years, left a widow, a
daughter, Mrs. John W, Griffin, and a brother, Franklin Burbank. The
several obituaries of the prominent land investor and retired dentist
told of his birth at Effingham, New Hampshire on the Saco River on
December 17, 1821, of his early childhood in Cumberland County, Maine,
and his practice of dentistry at Waterville, Maine, until 1853,
Dr. Burbank moved west to San Francisco in that year and was a highly
successful dentist there until 1866, for he was able to buy the old
Providencia Rancho and western portion of Rancho San Rafael for $9,000.
After retiring from dentistry in 1872 he developed his Burbank Ranch as
a sheep area, sold it in 1886 to the Providencia land company, but
stayed on as a director. He owned much land in Los Angeles and the
county as well and was a member of the Masons and various Scottish Rite
Orders.

Thomas Shelton was to come to Burbank in 1899, buy 80 acres of
property, and eventually become a subdivider and judge. Shelton Avenue,
a street in a tract he subdivided, was named in his honor. Walter A.
Story was born to Emma (Fischer) Story and Thomas Story in Burbank on
January 23, 1899.

In 1899 James J. Jeffries won the heavyweight boxing crown, an
event which was to have repercussions in Burbank, his later and longtime
home. Burbank closed out the nineteenth century a village with surround-
ing ranches and small farms. It was a productive area slowly emerging
as a quality crop producer because of excellent soil, specialized
farming, and diligent newcomers of considerable skill. Most of all, it
had hung on through boom and bust and depression and drought and had
found the way to survive the calamities of flood and storm as well,
where other areas had perished.
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CHAPTER 6

TURN OF THE CENTURY FARM COMMUNITY

While Burbank township in 1900 was reported by the national
census to have 3,048 people, up but 52 from the 2,996 of 1890, the
Thirteenth Census gave no specific figure for Burbank proper. One
estimate is that Burbank had 300 inhabitants in 1900. In 1902 Ray
Sence arrived and said that population had reached 500. But as late as
1908 Burbank, while a towmn, did not qualify for inclusion in the govern-
ment census under its own name since the population was under 500.

Of that period Howard C. Martin, who arrived in 1908 and was to
grow up on the Dr. David Burbank Ranch, was to say, 'I once knew
everyone in the community.'" By 1910 Burbank had 700 people according
to Standard and 900 according to Sanborn maps.

THE VILLAGE DAYS

At the turn of the century the foothill village of less than
500 people stretched from Grandview Avenue to the Lankershim (later
North Hollywood) line. Railroad maps showed Burbank as the junction of
a short line of railroad to Chatsworth Park.

James was to write that Burbank was "a thriving town of
considerable pretentions.'" By '"pretentions'" he meant it had a fine
hotel, good businesses, three churches and, in a new edition five years
later, a bank. 'Here fine deciduous fruits, potatoes and grain are
raised in abundance,'" wrote James. '"'The mountains overlooking Burbank
in the Verdugo, and in driving, riding or walking many an exquisite
spot may be visited in the canyons, valleys and mountain nooks between
the town and the Sierra Madre range.'" Others called Burbank "a horse
and buggy village."

Jack Anderson bought land for a home for $1800 in 1903; the lot
had originally cost $50. A. B. Handorf around 1904 purchased the
Hearst Ranch at the foot of Live Avenue near the Los Angeles River.
Handorf, owner of the Los Angeles Creamery with several partners, was
to move his dairy to Burbank in 1911, Meanwhile, the second great
San Fernando Valley land boom, after that of 1887, began in 1905, and
encouraged people to buy property again after the slowdown of the 1890's.
Any lot in the foothill district of Burbank could have been purchased
for $50 in 1905 when Mrs. Anna Olsen came to the village.

Dominico Tuso arrived to join others in the Tuso family from
Philadelphia in 1907. Tuso bought 155 feet of San Fernando Boulevard
frontage near San Jose Avenue for $1500 (worth $30,000 in 1937) and was
to own 53 feet of the cornmer plot 30 years later. When Mr. and Mrs.
Herman Koppes came in 1907, she started in the real estate business.
Realtors would get 2.5 per cent on sales. Still, an acre along
San Fernando Boulevard sold for $2,500. While the huge auction of 1910
of the vast Van Nuys Ranch holdings in the west signaled the end of the
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big farm era for the Valley, that era was long dead in Burbank. There,
nevertheless, on November 19, 1910, Wood's Ranch was auctioned. Higher
uses of land were sought.

The Brick Block of two stories went up in 1900 and at the time
was the only such structure in town. Palmer, in writing of Hollywood,
said that nearby lay the little town of Burbank with some 20 small
houses and a large red wooden hotel, the sign of a recent boom. By 1902
newcomers found one built-up block in the business district from
Orange Grove to Olive, on the hill side of the street.

The l4=room home of 0. J. Stough on Sixth Street near Cornell
Drive was ranked as a major landmark of Burbank by this time. Stough,
who held up to 6,000 acres of Burbank property, was an elderly million-
aire who was to live beyond a century.

In 1904 W. E. Kirkpatrick slowly and laboriously hauled building
materials from Los Angeles for a home in Burbank. Five dollars a month
rent and the water paid was the total cost for the best house in Burbank
in 1905, Mrs. Cora C. Goodall recalled. Her family arrived in April,
1905, when there were little more than a dozen houses in the hill
section. Mrs. F. S. Webster, widow of Burbank's first City Clerk of
later years, spent summers at Burbank after 1906 to get away from the
heat of Imperial Valley. She liked the town so much that she was to
spend the rest of her life here. 'There was nothing to obstruct the
view from my house in the old days," said Mrs. Webster., "I don't know
whether I like all this building or not," she added of the tremendous
construction of three decades later in the war boom years.

When Mrs, P. A. Fainot came to Burbank around 1908 she resided
in a little house which later became a virtual landmark (at 506 West
Sixth Street). The house was then almost in the country. Besides the
two acres where the family home stood, the Fainots owned 20 acres in
the heart of Burbank. The Martin homestead was erected at what became
Warner Boulevard and Avon Street about 1908. By 1910 four brick
structures and seven concrete ones were up in Burbank, among them
McClure's winery. There were no vacant houses.

THE AGRICULTURAL TOWN

Burbank had survived the horrible bust of 1888-89 and the
depression 1890's and terrible drought as its farmers made use of the
special soil conditions to grow vineyards and alfalfa, peaches and
melons, and vegetables. As a cantaloupe supplier Burbank was soon
without peer throughout Southern California., Horse and wagon got
loaded up for the three-hour trip with produce into Los Angeles.
Between fine sand loam and underground basin water Burbank was able to
produce crops of exceptional taste. Burbank was known as a fruit bowl,
but its sheep were active too.

In those years Burbank had a garlic factory, but the smell so
annoyed many persons that they insisted that it leave. Those were the
days when Albert Erickson raised vegetables and melons on his own ten
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ten acres. Ray R. Sence said of Burbank in 1902, "ve made our living
from the earth.'" When only 15, Ray was allowed to drive a 32-horse and
mule combine harvester over the then agricultural Valley, a real accom-
plishment. With his father and mother, Paul Knapp came to Burbank in
1902. They bought 60 acres of land and planted it to alfalfa, In his
youth and later work Knapp was to find many Indian artifacts.

W. E. Kirkpatrick came to Burbank in 1903 from Pana, Illinois,
and bought a ten acre ranch. 1In a single year he sold as many as
$5,000 worth of potatoes, almost as the advertisements of land salesmen
said. At times Kirkpatrick would sell the potato plants and made
$1,500 a season from a large Los Angeles seed house. Addison Sence in

1903 began farming, kept at it for a decade, then left for Eugene, Oregon,

only to return and enter supply work, His retail business in Burbank
and in Roscoe, Reseda and Lancaster supplied many Valley farmers.
Handorf was already in charge by 1904 of the onetime Hearst Ranch, a
noted alfalfa raiser. In 1904 strawberries raised at Burbank were
widely distributed. James remarked the fineness of the deciduous
fruits, potatoes and grain.

The Randisi Winery went up in Burbank in 1906, to last for a
half century and later to be ousted as an eyesore by a subdivision.
Shades of Dr. David Burbank's sheep were present in the first decade of
the century. In May, 1907, great herds of sheep grazed on Burbank land.
In May, 1908, a large herd of sheep passed right through the main part
of town, to the complaint of the Burbank Revieu that this came "after
the village had grown large enough to build a school and attract a
bank:" So much dust was raised by the passing animals that the small
bank had to be closed "to keep the dust from completely stopping

business!"

L. B. Taylor was foreman of the Stough ranch of 2,000 acres
around 1908. Mr. and Mrs. J. F. Gill came here to work on the ranch,
next door to which Taylor lived. Mrs. P, A, Fainot recalled how a
storm removed most of the top soil in 1908 from land east and south of
Olive Avenue and ruined orchards. Land had to be planted to grain for
several years before rehabilitation was complete, When J. M. "Alfalfa
King'" Thrasher came to Burbank in 1908, he bought 20 acres in what
became Magnolia Park and planted rows of flowers around the entire
ranch. He expanded until he was farming 120 acres. When he retired in
1919 and moved to the "city", he took along his favorite cow.

The slight beginnings of industry in 1904 involved the lumber
yard which J. L. Robinson opened. He had bought two vacant lots and
one lot with a red barn that had housed a school. His sons, Porter and
Ira, aided him. Ray Linn, the next owner, moved the lumber business),
then sold it to Russell Mullin, ovmner of the Burbank Lumber Company of
later years. Woolworth's later replaced the first lumberyard. Steel=-
tired wagons delivered the lumber. Unknown to Burbank people at the
time, in a remodeled store in far-off New Castle, Pennsylvania, four
brothers, Harry M., Jack L., Albert, and Sam Warner, opened their first
motion picture theater,

Frank A. Thalburg was still running his general store in 1900,
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H. S. Sprinkle noted, Cash Edmunds' family sold their store, which

they had operated since 1894, to the Luttge Brothers in 1905. Hitching
racks ran the full length of the store and along Orange Grove as well,
June Luttge recalled later that Burbank of the early 1900's was a

sleepy ranching community, which business centered on the '"brick block"
at San Fernando and Olive Avenue and at Orange Grove Avenue where the
Luttges had their store, Trips to Los Angeles for supplies were made

by wagon and team, With an early morning start and an after dark return
the trip could be made in a day over dirt roads.

B, J. Rummell came to Burbank in 1906 and was employed at
Kendall's store. Later he ran a 20-acre ranch. In 1907 the only fur=-
niture store in Burbank was run by Charley Ham. A drygoods store was
run by George Wood. There women could buy heavy cotton stockings and
whalebone corsets, 'Better than Los Angeles bread,'" an advertisement
for a Burbank bakery held in 1910,

Burbank State Bank, the town's first bank, opened in 1908 near
the corner of Olive Avenue and San Fernando Road., H. A. Church and his
son, Ralph 0. Church, bought a 30-foot frontage on San Fernando for
$1,000. Capital stock of $25,000 was offered. When the bank opened on
April 1, 1908, $30,000 were received on the first day of business, Of
this "a good share," Church said, "had to be washed because it had been
dug up from hiding places in Burbank backyards,'" Of money received
from residents, Church remarked, ''they brought it to me in cans, in old
envelopes and in gunny sacks, Some of it was so mouldy the denominations
were barely distinguishable, but most of it was in silver." Ranchers
were paid in silver coin, seldom in checks and greenbacks, for their
produce in Los Angeles markets.,

Early in the morning they would bring in flour sacks of money
to the bank. First depositor was 0. J. Stough, the largest landowner,
then nearing 90. Stough deposited a check for $500, The original bank
officers were: H. A, Church, President; A. 0. Kendall, Vice President;
and Ralph 0. Church, Cashier. Among the directors were: J. T. Shelton,
Orville Myers, E. A. Knapp, Martin Pupka, and Charles B. Fischer. In
1911 Thomas Story and J. H. Avery were added as directors.

Church, who had come from Marshalltown, Iowa, to visit his
parents in Los Angeles, was induced to stay thirty days to see if he
liked the west and to act as cashier in the bank the elder Church was
opening in Burbank. Church never left. Population at the time was 500,
Church estimated. The bank was a one-story building. In the back room
several women served ice cream and cake to the customers., The bank
chief had to go out to invite in people driving through the little
village. The front road was of dirt. Next door was a livery stable
owned by Thomas Story. Coal oil lamps lit the bank. Sheep raised
clouds of dust on the dirt road.

Everything in banking was done by hand. Church was not merely
cashier but also janitor and messenger, For the bank lot Church paid
$1,000, although he could have bought the lot on which the later Owl
Drug Store stood for $100., Less choice lots went for $15 to $25.
Filling the town with a marvelous odor were melons and strawberries
going 16 boxes for a quarter.
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Weekly, Church would ride the Southern Pacific to Los Angeles
with thousands of dollars in a bag beside him. Over the weekend he
could keep the money at his father's home. '"People were honest in those
days. No one ever tried to hold me up," Church stated. '"Ranchers never
thought anything about coming back from market late at night with their
summer 's income tossed in the rear of the wagon. Before the bank came,
they just kept it around the house somewhere.,'" When Church took his
hour for lunch, he closed the bank. He also closed on every holiday he
could claim. For a time Church was City Treasurer and also treasurer
for every organization which could impose on his good nature. By 1909
the bank reached deposits of $82,000, up from the $50,000 of 1908.

MOVEMENT OF PEOPLE

In the early 1900's roads and streets were still chaotic.
Cahuenga Pass to Los Angeles was a small trail. It was surrounded by
deep canyons dense with chaparral, buckthorn, holly, manzanita,
California lilac, aconite, and scrub oak. Ray Sence noted that in 1902
San Fernando Road, covered with decomposed granite, was the closest to
being a street. In 1909, Walter Story remarked, "San Fernando Road at
that time was not paved." In 1903, recalled Mrs. Jack Anderson,
Burbank was a dusty spot. Olive Avenue had a solid row of pepper trees
but no paving. But in 1907 the first great cuts and fills were made in
Cahuenga Pass. A boardwalk served as the sidewalk in the business
section of Burbank until the Luttges decided to put cement work before
their store. Other merchants began cementing.

About six automobiles a day were coming over Cahuenga Pass in
1905. 1In 1908 Burbank had one car and only the owner was proud of its
possession. To Walter Story in 1909, "it was quite an event if three
automobiles drove by.'" A major happening was when several score auto-
mobiles jammed through Burbank in 1909 on a race to San Francisco.

Still, a horse car around 1900 drove up Olive Avenue. At the
turn of the century Orlando C. Lane established the first bicycle shop
in Burbank. From 1904 to 1911, Earl Dufus served as Southern Pacific
local agent in Burbank. A. E. Dufus was for long years the oldest
businessman in Burbank, his family having arrived in 1896. The rail-
road was working to complete by 1906 a line from Burbank to Chatsworth,
which made Burbank the junction point for the two main lines of the
Southern Pacific.

Pacific Electric built into central Glendale from Los Angeles
in 1904, but no farther. In 1907 J. W. Fawkes had patented the first
monorail car in the United States, his "Aerial Swallow." Fawkes sought
to run the monorail from Burbank to Tropico (later South Glendale). He
had built one 56-passenger monorail car and a short line on his ranch
on Olive Avenue between Lake and Flower Streets. He was unsuccessful
in securing the right to build the line, which, it was held, did not
complete its first test run.

Since Burbank even as late as 1908 had but one car, to get to
Los Angeles meant going to the Glendale car first, across a three mile
road which was dusty in summer and muddy in winter. People would hitch
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rides on hay wagons to reach Glendale., W. E. Kirkpatrick's truck was
the first in Burbank, around 1908. Many thought he would "break his

neck." But he operated the truck day and night to move furniture and
produce in and out of Burbank. Railroad fare to Burbank in 1910 was

34 cents. Few minded the slow pace of transportation.

SERVICING THE 500

Steadily the village of 500 developed its own services.
June Luttge, annoyed by chickens, one day in 1905 started a little fire
which spread to the pepper trees on Olive Avenue. In 1909 the first
piece of Burbank fire fighting equipment--a fire bell-- was purchased.
The volunteer fire company had one hand hose car and 500 feet of rubber
hose "mot in good condition."

Kerosene and gasoline lamps lit Burbank. The Luttges were
responsible for Burbank's first street light, Every night a Luttge
would pump on a huge Coleman lamp and hang it outside the store so horse
and buggy travelers who got caught out after dark would know when they
had reached the thriving Burbank of 1905. This was still before the era
of either gas or electricity for lighting.

In August, 1900 the Burbank exchange, oldest of Pacific
Telephone's lines in the Valley, was established. By 1904, in the three
communities of Burbank, Glendale and Tropico, there were 60 suburban
magneto telephone services from Los Angeles. They used the prefixes of
Alta and Flora. One account held that in 1905 Burbank had two tele-
phones, which barely rose by 1908. Moreover, as Dr. Elmer H. Thompson
was to remark, there were as many as seventeen parties on one telephone
liHE-

The great flood of 1906 isolated Burbank for three weeks. Since
there were very few buildings, the damage was to agriculture and cattle.

Los Angeles City brought a water suit in 1900 against more than
200 ranchers cultivating 5,000 acres of land in and near Burbank, It
was difficult to hold that Los Angeles alone could use water from the
river basin when, as H. S. Sprinkle was to note, an artesian well was
bubbling near Front Street and Olive Avenue in Burbank. Watering
troughs and sprinkling wagons were used in 1901 when Warren Watson Brooks
arrived for a short wvisit in 1901, 1In 1907 Los Angeles voted for a
$23,000,000 bond issue to bring water to the San Fernando Valley from
the Owens River Valley, 250 miles away, within six vears. No Valley
resident voted on this. Burbank was outside this entire plan. In 1910
an irrigation system was going in to this "agricultural town.'" Miradero
Water Company, with its two reservoirs, still supplied Burbank.

In 1901 the town became a third class post office with a post-
master and a clerk who provided both residential and business deliveries.
Charles Fischer was postmaster from April 18, 1902, to 1914, Fischer,
who was also in the real estate business from 1903 on, was to serve as
Police Judge and to build the first stucco house in Burbank, Nights he
played in the city band.
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William Ladds was deputized to deliver Burbank's outgoing mail
to the Southern Pacific station. Twice a day he got out his wheelbarrow
and trundled the mail sacks to the mustard colored depot. For this
service he was paid ten dollars per month, Ladds, who operated a barber
shop on San Fernando Boulevard, then a dirt road, shared the building
with Charles Fischer, who managed the post office.

The first woman to deliver mail in Burbank, Mrs. Mathilda Beall
Murphy, began working in 1905, She served as rural mail carrier to
1911. 1In a handsome high-axled Mitchell automobile, later Mrs. Murphy
drove 27 miles a day to deliver mail to 200 families in West Burbank.
Despite punctures and carburetor trouble, the mails always went through.
Mrs. Murphy said that the post office was required to keep open Sunday
mornings so that churchgoers could collect the weekly accumulation of
post cards and Montgomery Ward catalogs. In 1908 mail was brought in a
horse and buggy and later in puffy automobiles that could scarcely make
the grade up Tenth Street,

"When we came here in 1902 there was just one police officer,
known as the Sheriff," said Mrs. Jennie Tuso, '"and he let people do
about as they pleased." While mowing hay at San Fernando and Olive
Avenue one fall day in 1906, W. E. Kirkpatrick mowed up two stolen
bicycles. He took the wheels to Orlando C, Lane, bicycle shop owner,
and the two traced the numbers to their owners in Los Angeles. Bicycle
theft was common then, with even Dr. Elmer H. Thompson losing his cycle
to a thief. Locks were harder to come by in those days.

Dr. Thompson came near death one night when on his night hospital
rounds in January, 1909, he observed the darkened single bank of Burbank.
He had an arrangement with Ralph O. Church, the banker, to watch to see
if the kerosene lamp in a certain place at the cashier's window in the
bank was moved or not. Dr, Thompson saw that the lamp this night showed
signs of having been moved. The physician held his own lantern high
through the window but saw nothing inside; he passed on. Next morning
when Church and Officer Bill Weaver entered the bank, they found that
someone had repeatedly tried to dynamite the inner vault and had failed.
Less than $55 was missing from the outer vault,

Later that week Officer Weaver saw a well dressed youth carrying
a black satchel, and since he was too well dressed for a country village,
Officer Weaver demanded to see the contents of the satchel. Burglar
tools were found as well as explosives. Through this arrest the burglar,
an ex~convict, was apprehended. The well dressed youth within two weeks
admitted to a court that he was in a tree outside the bank as a lookout
while Dr. Thompson was looking around the bank, and that had the physi~
cian looked up in the tree, he would have shot him. Within two weeks
after the crime, the two involved were sentenced to long prison terms.

CHURCH, HOSPITAL, NEWS
For long years Sacred Heart Church, East Los Angeles, had

jurisdiction over the Burbank area. But then in 1902 people of the
Catholic Church started going to mass upstairs in the brick building at
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0. J. Stough

Sixth Street, looking northwest, from in front
of Stough Ranch House, 1914



San Fernando Road at Scott Road, 1914 (Stough
Ranch pumphouse at left)

Stough Ranch orchard



San Fernando and Olive Avenue, The William Van Horn family attended
the First Christian Church in the small frame building near the later
city hall (of 1937). Rev. E. V. Chapin was pastor.

From 1907 on Father Daniel Daly of Sacred Heart Church conducted
gservices each Sunday. Later Burbank was joined to Glendale as a parish
by Bishop Conaty. Father James O'Neill would offer Mass in Glendale and
drive to Burbank for a later Mass at Forrester Hall, In 1908 construc=
tion of a wooden church, at a cost of $2,000, began. Land was bought by
Clementine Lamer, Alphonse Brosseau and Charles B. Fischer and donated
for Burbank's first Catholic Church.

Dr. Elmer H. Thompson arrived in Burbank on April 19, 1905,
fresh from a year's practice in Superior, Wisconsin. For days he
tramped over the Valley from Glendale to Calabasas before deciding to
hang out his physician's shingle in Burbank. "I reasoned this way,"
said Dr. Thompson. "I knew Los Angeles County would grow. Glendale
was being settled by laborers, clerks and workmen, and there would be
slack seasons when they would be unemployed. Van Nuys and Newhall were
far from the city. Burbank was settled by substantial ranchers."

Dr. Thompson added, "I believed a man working close to the soil is an
honest man, He may be slow paying, but he takes his obligations seriously
and is very appreciative.,'" He was to remark, ''No old-timer has ever

tried to beat me out of a thing."

Having picked Burbank, Dr. Thompson bought a bicycle and set up
his office at his home near First and Olive. For many miles around he
pedaled his bicycle. For his first patient, Henry Hays, young Dr. Thomp~-
son pulled a tooth, charged him a quarter, then gave him a dollar's worth
of pain medicine. Mrs. Jennie Tuso recalled that he was the only doctor
within a half day's ride.

So young, he was known as 'The Kid." Dr. Thompson was called in
when Dr. Hale was to treat a man who, while speeding down San Fernando
Boulevard, ran head on into a wooden cat rake. A tine pierced his
heart. Dr. Hale told neighbors to send for "The Kid physician and
undertaker.,'" When Dr. Thompson arrived, he sterilized his instruments
in a dishpan, cleared a dining room table, and made operating room
assistants of the curious gathered around the injured man. First
removing a rib to expose the heart, Dr. Thompson kept blood circulating
by squeezing the organ with his hand while he washed out sand and hay
dust from the ugly gash in the heart lining. He sewed up the cut,
closed the chest, and saw the victim safely in a feather bed. To
everyone's surprise, including Dr. Thompson's, the man recovered--but
failed to pay his bill. No one called Elmer H. Thompson, M.D., 'The Kid"
any longer. He was Dr. Thompson.

As more medical work came in or he went out to find it,
Dr. Thompson bought a horse. That same day a thief stole the doctor's
bicycle. Later Dr. Thompson added three other horses, which he used in
relays. He would hitch up even at night by touch as his eyes became
accustomed to the dark in the days when there were neither streets nor
street lights. The horse and man would be trailed by the doctor's dog.
Dr. Thompson remembered that along the railroad tracks and highway
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